### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA No. 18-1966 Polk County No. LACL141251

BENSKIN, INC.,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

WEST BANK,

Defendant-Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY, HONORABLE SAMANTHA GRONEWALD, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

/s/ S.P. DeVolder

S.P. DeVolder AT0001876

THE DeVOLDER LAW FIRM, P.L.L.C.

1228 Sunset Drive, Suite C Norwalk, IA 50211-2401

Tel: (515)981-5150

Fax: (515)981-5156

steven.devolder@devolderlawfirm.com

/s/ William W. Graham

William W. Graham AT0002953

DUNCAN GREEN, P.C. 400 Locust Street, Suite 380 Des Moines, IA 50309-2363

Tel: (515)288-6440 Fax: (515)288-6448

wwgraham@duncangreenlaw.com

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

# THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING COUNTS I TO IV OF THE AMENDED PETITION ON THE GROUND OF THE RUNNING OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS, AND FURTHER ERRED IN DISMISSING COUNT V ON THE GROUND OF LACK OF PROOF OF THE ELEMENT OF PUBLICATION

#### A. Error Preservation

#### Cases

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)

Metz v. Amoco Oil Co., 581 N.W.2d 597 (Iowa 1998)

Peters v. Burlington N. R.R., 492 N.W.2d 399 (Iowa 1992)

#### B. The Standard of Review

#### Cases

American Nat'l Bank v. Sivers, 387 N.W.2d 138 (Iowa 1986)

Albrecht v. General Motors Corp., 648 N.W.2d 87 (Iowa 2002)

Berger v. Gen. United Grp., Inc., 268 N.W.2d 630 (Iowa 1978)

Clark v. Miller, 503 N.W.2d 422 (Iowa 1993)

Cutler v. Klass, Whicher & Mishne, 473 N.W.2d 178 (Iowa 1991)

Davis v. State, 443 N.W.2d 707 (Iowa 1989)

Lakota Consol. Indep. Sch. v. Buffalo Ctr./Rake Cmty. Sch., 334 N.W.2d 704 (Iowa 1983)

Mason v. Schwizer Aircraft Corp., 653 N.W.2d 543 (Iowa 2002)

Mlynarik v. Bergantzel, 675 N.W.2d 584 (Iowa 2004)

Rieff v. Evans, 630 N.W.2d 278 (Iowa 2001)

Robinson v. State, 687 N.W.2d 591 (Iowa 2004)

Schaffer v. Frank Moyer Const., Inc., 563 N.W.2d 605 (Iowa 1997)

Schreiner v. Scoville, 410 N.W.2d 679 (Iowa 1987)

Schmidt v. Wilkinson, 340 N.W.2d 282 (Iowa 1983)

Smith v. Smith, 513 N.W.2d 728 (Iowa 1994)

Sokie v. Evan Matthews & Co., 302 N.W.2d 841 (Iowa 1981)

Trobaugh v. Sondag, 668 N.W.2d 577 (Iowa 2003)

Turner v. Iowa State Bank & Trust Co., 743 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2007)

*Unertl v. Bezanson*, 414 N.W.2d 321 (Iowa 1987)

U.S. Bank v. Barbour, 770 N.W.2d 350 (Iowa 2009)

Young v. Healthport Tech., Inc., 877 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 2016)

#### Rules

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.421(1)(*f*)

1. The District Court Erred In Granting The Dismissal Motion On The Ground Of The Running Of The Statute Of Limitations Respecting Counts I To III Of The Amended Petition (The Breach Of Contracts And Breach Of Duty Of Good Faith And Fair Dealing Claims).

#### **Statutes**

Iowa Code § 524.221(2)

A. The Specific Banking Statute Of Limitations Does Not Apply To These Claims As The Relevant Entries Were Not Made In The Regular Course of Business.

#### Cases

Louisiana Business College v. Crump, 474 So.2d 1366 (La. App. 1985)

State v. Fisher, 178 N.W.2d 380 (Iowa 1970)

Strand v. Great N. Ry. Co., 101 Minn. 85, 111 N.W. 958 (1907)

#### **Statutes**

Iowa Code § 524.221(2)

Iowa Code § 614.1(5)

B. Even If The Statute Applies, The Breach Based Claims Were Timely Brought As The Discovery Rule Extended The Accrual Dates.

#### Cases

Albrecht v. General Motors Corp., 648 N.W.2d 87 (Iowa 2002)

Brown v. Ellison, 304 N.W.2d 197 (Iowa 1981)

Chrischilles v. Griswold, 260 Iowa 453, 150 N.W.2d 94 (1967)

C. The Specific Banking Statute Of Limitations Expressly Does Not Apply To The Breach Of Implied Duty Of Good Faith And Fair Dealing Claim.

#### Cases

Legg v. West Bank, 873 N.W.2d 763 (Iowa 2016)

#### Statutes

Iowa Code § 524.221(2)

Iowa Code § 614.1(4)

D. In Any Case, The Bank Is Equitably Estopped From Raising The Statute Of Limitations Defense, Either Based On The General Or Specific Limitations Statute, As To Each Of The Breach Based Claims.

#### <u>Cases</u>

Christy v. Miulli, 692 N.W.2d 694 (Iowa 2005)

Matherly v. Hanson, 359 N.W.2d 450 (Iowa 1984)

Meiter v. Alfa-Laval, Inc., 454 N.W.2d 576 (Iowa 1990)

Skadburg v. Gately, 911 N.W.2d 786 (Iowa 2018)

2. The District Court Erred In Granting The Dismissal Motion On The Ground Of The Running Of The Statute Of Limitations Respecting Count IV Of The Amended Petition (The Fraud Claim).

#### Cases

Christy v. Miulli, 692 N.W.2d 694 (Iowa 2005)

Dier v. Peters, 815 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2012)

Hallet Constr. Co. v. Meister, 713 N.W.2d 225 (Iowa 2006)

Pride v. Peterson, 173 N.W.2d 549 (Iowa 1970)

Rieff v. Evans, 630 N.W.2d 278 (Iowa 2001)

#### **Statutes**

Iowa Code § 524.221(2)

Iowa Code § 614.1(4)

3. The District Court Erred In Granting The Dismissal Motion On The Ground Of Failure Of Proof Of The Publication Element Respecting Count V Of The Amended Petition (The Slander Of Title Claim).

#### Cases

Belcher v. Little, 315 N.W.2d 734 (Iowa 1982)

Davitt v. Smart, 449 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 1989)

Monroe v. Bank of America Corp., 2018 WL 1875294 (N.D. Okla. 2018)

Nelson v. Bayview Loan Servicing, L.L.C., 2014 WL 4629382 (Ill. App. 2014)

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case should be transferred to the Iowa court of appeals under the criteria set forth in Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a)—this appeal presents the application of existing legal principles to the facts.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case. The appellant Benskin, Inc. filed its action, as subsequently amended, against the appellee West Bank on May 18, 2018. (Pet. of 05-18-2018; App. 10-14; Amend. Pet. of 07-02-2018; App. 25-32.) Benskin generally alleged, in the operative amended and substituted petition, that the bank was liable to Benskin on claims sounding in contract and tort liability. (Amend. Pet.; App. 25-32.) The claims arose out of the parties' dealings in two independent transactions, one that occurred in 2006 and the other in 2007. (Amend. Pet.; App. 25-32.) It is the manner in which the bank handled these separate transactions—and specifically, the bank's improperly conflating these transactions for its own benefit and to the detriment of its customer Benskin, and further actively misrepresenting its actions to Benskin—that forms the transactional facts underlying the claims. (Amend. Pet., at ¶¶ 3-16; App. 25-27.)

In brief, in 2006 Benskin obtained a loan from the bank that was secured by mortgages on real estate owned by Benskin and situated in Dickinson County. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 3; App. 25.) In 2007, Benskin obtained a line of credit from the

bank secured by mortgages on real estate owned by Benskin and situated in Dickinson County and Polk County. (Amend. Pet., at ¶¶ 6-7; App. 26.) Ultimately, Benskin would not tap into the line of credit—that is, Benskin never utilized that credit line. (Amend. Pet., at ¶8; App. 26.) The credit line matured on May 30, 2008, and because Benskin never had accessed the credit line the bank under the terms of the transactional documents became obligated to release the mortgage security concerning that unused credit line (including the encumbrance on the Polk County properties). (Amend. Pet., at ¶9; App. 26.)

But the bank never did so. (Amend. Pet., at ¶¶ 10-11; App. 26-27.) Unbeknownst to Benskin, the bank itself had improperly tapped into the 2007 credit line to pay off, and before the note was even due, the 2006 loan that was not secured by any real estate owned by Benskin and situated in Polk County. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 13; App. 27.) This was done without Benskin's knowledge and authorization. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 12; App. 27.) To cover its tracks, the bank went so far as to alter its transactional records to hide what it had done from Benskin, and all the while the bank falsely represented to Benskin that it was in the process of releasing the mortgages on the real estate encumbered by the 2007 line of credit transaction—but these representations were nothing but lies. (Amend. Pet., at ¶¶ 10-14; App. 26-27.) It was only on or after July 22, 2016, and as the result of discovery obtained in a separate lawsuit involving these same parties, that Benskin learned of what the bank

had done and that, despite the bank's numerous assurances, it did not, and would not, release the real estate encumbered by the 2007 line of credit transaction. (Amend. Pet., at ¶¶ 13-14; App. 27.)

Course of the Proceedings. Benskin raised five claims against the bank: (1) breach of the 2007 line of credit agreement; (2) breach of the 2006 loan agreement; (3) breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing inherent in each of these agreements; (4) fraud—both by concealment and affirmative misrepresentations; and (5) slander of title (concerning the Polk County real estate encumbered by the 2007 line of credit transaction). (Amend. Pet.; App. 25-32.) The bank responded with a motion to dismiss; the bank asserted that the first four claims were barred by the running of the applicable statute of limitations and that the fifth claim (slander of title) was deficient as to a showing of the element of "publication." (Mot. Dismiss of 07-16-2018; App. 35-50; Reply Mot. Dismiss of 08-16-2018; App. 59-70.) Benskin resisted the dismissal motion as it pertained to the statute of limitations on each of the following grounds—that, under the applicable dismissal review standard, the contract-based claims were not barred by the running of the statute of limitations, and in any event the discovery rule and the doctrine of equitable estoppel tolled the running of that period; as for the fraud claim, the claim was not barred based on the applicable limitations statute or the application of the discovery rule and equitable estoppel. (Resist. Mot. Dismiss of 07-30-2018; App.

51-58.) As for the slander of title claim, Benskin asserted that under the applicable dismissal review standard the element of publication was sufficiently pled. (Resist. Mot. Dismiss; App. 57-58.)

Disposition of the Case. By ruling entered on October 9, 2018, the district court granted in the entirety the bank's motion to dismiss. (Order Regarding Dismissal of 10-09-2018; App. 71-81.) The district court rejected each of Benskin's several arguments as to why, under the applicable dismissal review standard, none of the first four claims was time-barred and the fifth claim sufficiently pled the publication element. (Order; App. 71-81.) Benskin timely filed its notice of appeal on November 7, 2018. (Notice of Appeal of 11-07-2018; App. 82-84.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS<sup>1</sup>

On or about October 6, 2006, Benskin entered into a written loan agreement (the "2006 Loan Agreement") with West Bank pursuant to which the bank loaned to Benskin the sum of \$800,094.00 (the "2006 Loan"). (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 3; App. 25.) The 2006 Loan was secured by personal guarantees from Martin Benskin (owner of Benskin) and his spouse Susan Benskin as well as by a real estate mortgage

Consistent with the dismissal review standard, the facts and inferences therefrom are taken from the amended petition and construed in favor of Benskin as the nonmoving party. *See Rieff v. Evans*, 630 N.W.2d 278, 284 (Iowa 2001) (in considering a motion to dismiss, the court must accept as true the allegations contained in the petition, resolve all doubts and ambiguities in those allegations in favor of the nonmovant plaintiff and further cannot rely on any purported facts not alleged in the petition except for those of which judicial notice may be taken).

encumbering property owned by Benskin in Dickinson County, Iowa. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 3; App. 25.) The 2006 Loan Agreement was memorialized by a written promissory note (the "2006 Promissory Note"), written personal guarantees, and a written real estate mortgage. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 4; App. 26.) The 2006 Loan Agreement was renewed by a written promissory note dated August 1, 2007 and it carried a maturity date of August 1, 2008. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 5; App. 26.)

On or about October 24, 2007, Benskin entered into a written line of credit agreement (the "2007 Line of Credit Agreement") with West Bank pursuant to which the bank agreed to loan to Benskin sums up to \$2,000,000.00. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 6; App. 26.) The credit line was for the purpose of Benskin's possible purchase and development of certain real estate situated in Dickinson County. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 6; App. 26.) The 2007 Line of Credit was memorialized by a written promissory note dated October 24, 2007 (the "2007 Promissory Note") and was secured by personal guarantees from Martin Benskin and Susan Benskin as well as mortgages encumbering real property owned by Benskin in both Dickinson County and Polk County, Iowa (the "2007 Mortgages"). (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 7; App. 26.) The 2007 Line of Credit was a separate and completely different lending transaction than the 2006 Loan Agreement, and the 2006 Loan Agreement did not provide the bank with any mortgage or other security right to Benskin's real property situated in Polk County. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 7; App. 26.) Benskin ultimately never used or otherwise accessed the credit line available under the 2007 Line of Credit Agreement and it never requested or otherwise received any advances under that credit line. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 8; App. 26.)

The 2007 Promissory Note for the line of credit, along with the Dickinson County and Polk County real estate mortgages that secured it, matured on May 30, 2008. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 9; App. 26.) On and after that date, West Bank was obligated to release the 2007 Mortgages including those encumbering Benskin's Polk County located real estate. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 9; App. 26.) At various times after May 30, 2008, the bank, through its officers and employees, made multiple representations that the bank would promptly take the steps necessary, or already had begun to take those steps, to release the 2007 Mortgages; Benskin only later learned that these statements were false at the times they were made. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 10; App. 26.) Despite its obligation to release the 2007 Mortgages, and contrary to its representations and promises to do just that, the bank ultimately failed and refused to release those mortgages, even after the repeated requests and demands from Benskin. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 11; App. 26-27.)

The bank's first statement, and made through its officers and employees, to Benskin wherein the bank expressly refused to release the 2007 Mortgages was made on June 27, 2011. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 12; App. 27.) Up until that date, the bank intentionally misled Benskin by making numerous statements and promises that it

would release those mortgages and was actively in the process of taking the procedural steps to do so. (Amend. Pet., at ¶¶ 11, 14; App. 26, 27.)

Why the bank ultimately did not do so, and why it lied to Benskin concerning its avowed intention to do so, were not discovered by Benskin until on and after July 22, 2016. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 13; App. 27.) Benskin's discovery was made as the result of information disclosed in other litigation involving these parties. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 13; App. 27.) During the course of that litigation, Benskin obtained information that indicated at some time after the execution of the 2007 Line of Credit Agreement, West Bank internally altered its transactional or business records so as to purport to show an advance was obtained under that credit line to pay off, and before it was even due, the 2006 Promissory Note (the earlier transaction that was unrelated to the later line of credit transaction). (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 13; App. 27.) Benskin did not authorize that advance, nor did he even otherwise know about it, when it occurred and as subsequently reflected in the bank's altered records. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 13; App. 27.) The bank's wrongfully tapping into the credit line was actively and affirmatively concealed from Benskin by the bank; the money was taken by West Bank without Benskin's agreement, consent, or knowledge and was not discovered by Benskin until after July 22, 2016. (Amend. Pet., at ¶¶ 10-14; App. 26-27.) And the bank's wrongful action further resulted in Benskin's Polk County

real estate being encumbered with a mortgage in the amount of the unauthorized line of credit withdrawal. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 15; App. 27.)

Thus, until at least as late as June 27, 2011, West Bank fraudulently misled Benskin into believing that the 2007 Mortgages would be released; furthermore, the bank actively misrepresented and concealed from Benskin until on or after July 22, 2016 that it wrongly and without authorization accessed the 2007 Line of Credit to pay off the 2006 Promissory Note—and that by doing so activated the mortgage encumbrance on Benskin's Polk County real estate. (Amend. Pet., at ¶¶ 7-16; App. 26-27.)

As a result of the bank's actions described above, the Polk County properties were wrongfully encumbered by the mortgages securing the line of credit in favor of West Bank. (Amend. Pet., at ¶¶ 7-14; App. 26-27.) West Bank's conduct in refusing to release the 2007 Mortgages constituted breaches of the terms of the 2007 Line of Credit, the 2006 Promissory Note, and the 2007 Mortgages. (Amend. Pet., at ¶¶ 21-29; App. 28-29.) Until at least June 27, 2011, West Bank's fraud, concealment, misrepresentation, and deception induced Benskin to refrain from bringing action on those breaches and, therefore, West Bank (as pled in Benskin's amended petition) became barred by, among other principles, the discovery rule and equitable estoppel from asserting that the written agreement breach related claims

accrued before that date for purposes of the statute of limitations. (Amend. Pet., at ¶¶ 18-19, 23, 28, 35 and 40; App. 28-31.)

And the same is true regarding the bank's conduct in advancing funds under the 2007 Promissory Note (the line of credit) to pay off the 2006 Promissory Note—that violated the terms of the 2007 Line of Credit, the 2007 Promissory Note, and the 2007 Mortgages. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 18-19, 23, 28, 35 and 40; App. 28-31.) Until at least June 27, 2011, West Bank's fraud, concealment, misrepresentation, and deception induced Benskin to refrain from bringing action on those breaches and, therefore, West Bank (as pled in Benskin's amended petition) became barred by, among other principles, the discovery rule and equitable estoppel from asserting that the written agreement breach related claims accrued before that date for purposes of any statute of limitations. (Amend. Pet., at ¶ 18-19, 23, 28, 35 and 40; App. 28-31.)

Finally, the bank's conduct in wrongfully encumbering the Polk County properties with the debt represented by the 2006 Promissory Note constituted a slander of Benskin's title because it was a false use of words and documents to encumber the property and was done so with malice and lack of good faith; in addition, the bank's conduct in wrongfully tapping into the 2007 line of credit resulted in its wrongfully encumbering and without right those properties in the first

place that were not subject to the 2006 Loan Agreement. (Amend. Pet., at ¶¶ 37-40; App. 31.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING COUNTS I TO IV OF THE AMENDED PETITION ON THE GROUND OF THE RUNNING OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS, AND FURTHER ERRED IN DISMISSING COUNT V ON THE GROUND OF LACK OF PROOF OF THE ELEMENT OF PUBLICATION.

#### A. Error Preservation.

Benskin preserved error. He resisted the bank's motion to dismiss the first four counts of the amended petition on the running of the statute of limitations defense, and he raised and briefed each of the issues he now raises on appeal to argue that the limitations period has not run and under the applicable review dismissal review standard; and the district court ruled on each of these bases. (Resistance to Motion to Dismiss; App. 51-58; Ruling on Motion to Dismiss; App. 71-81.) Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) (error is preserved where the issues raised on appeal were first raised before the district court and ruled upon by that court); see also Metz v. Amoco Oil Co., 581 N.W.2d 597, 600 (Iowa 1998) ("issues must be presented and passed upon by the district court" in order for appellate error to be preserved); Peters v. Burlington N. R.R., 492 N.W.2d 399, 401 (Iowa 1992) (same). Benskin likewise raised the argument that the publication element for count V of the amended petition was met under the applicable dismissal review standard,

and it obtained a ruling from the district court on that position. (Id.; App. 56-57.) *Id.* 

#### B. The Standard of Review.

A pre-answer motion to dismiss can be predicated on any of the following grounds: (i) the court lacks jurisdiction, either subject matter or personal; (ii) original notice is insufficient; or (iii) the plaintiff fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.421(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f). As we have seen, West Bank proceeded under subsection (f)—that Benskin supposedly did not state "a claim upon which relief can be granted." (Motion to Dismiss, at p. 1; App. 35.)

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