IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA No. 18-1966 Polk County No. LACL141251

BENSKIN, INC.,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

WEST BANK,

Defendant-Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY, HONORABLE SAMANTHA GRONEWALD, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

/s/Dennis P. Ogden

Thomas L. Flynn AT0002596 Dennis P. Ogden AT0005838

BRICK GENTRY, P.C.

6701 Westown Pkwy, Ste. 100 West Des Moines, IA 50266 Telephone: (515) 271-5912

Facsimile: (515) 274-1488

E-mail: tom.flynn@brickgentrylaw.com E-mail: dennis.ogden@brickgentrylaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLEE

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

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED COUNTS I TO IV OF THE AMENDED PETITION DUE TO THE RUNNING OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS, AND COUNT V FOR FAILURE OF THE ELEMENT OF PUBLICATION.

A. Error Preservation

West Bank disagrees that Benskin preserved error on all of its appeal issues. Generally, this court will not decide an issue presented to it on appeal that was not presented to and decided by the district court. See, *DuTrac Credit Union v. Hefel*, 893 N.W.2d 282, 293 (Iowa 2017). For error to be preserved on an issue, it must be both raised and decided by the district court. *Id.* If a party raises an issue and the court does not rule on it, the party must file a motion to request a ruling on the issue. See, *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002).

1. <u>"Relevant Entries not made in Regular Course of Business"</u> <u>Argument not Preserved</u>

In part 1.A. of the Argument section of its brief (See, Appellant's Brief, pp. 28-30), Benskin asserts that Iowa Code § 524.221(2) does not apply to the claims set forth in Counts I–III of the A&S Petition because "Relevant Entries Were Not Made In The Regular Course Of Business." See, Appellant's Brief, at 28. This claim was never raised in the trial court and the trial court did not rule on the claim.

A review of Benskin's resistance and brief to West Bank's motion to dismiss the A&S Petition shows that, on page 4 of the resistance, Benskin did raise a claim that Iowa Code § 524.221(2) applied only to claims based on contracts "made in the regular course of business." (App. 54). However, Benskin's argument in the trial court was that West Bank's loan contracts with Benskin were "complicated multi-million dollar commercial loan transactions" not "routine and ordinary" contracts, meaning that the contracts between the parties were not "made in the regular course of business" as set forth in the statute. (App. 54). The only authority relied on by Benskin in its argument to the trial court was the case of Legg v. West Bank, 873 N.W.2d 763 (Iowa 2016) in which Iowa Code § 524.221(2) was not specifically discussed, but the Iowa Supreme Court held that a different statute of limitations applied to the claims. (App. 54).

Benskin has abandoned that argument on appeal. In its brief on appeal, Benskin transforms its argument to a claim concerning alleged fraudulent entries by West Bank in its records. Benskin asserts that West Bank's efforts to "cook the books" were *entries* that were not made in the regular course of business and somehow converted the contracts between the parties to dealings outside the regular course of business removing them from the limitations period set forth in

Iowa Code § 524.221(2). Benskin cites authorities for its new claim that were not cited in its resistance and brief in the district court. See, Appellant's Brief, at 29; Cf. (App. 54). Nowhere in the court's ruling on the "Breach Claims" set forth in Benskin's A&S Petition does the court make a ruling on Benskin's "fraudulent entries" claim. Because the claim was not presented to the district court, and was not ruled on by the district court, error was not preserved on the claim. See, *DuTrac Credit Union*, at 293.

2. <u>Discovery Rule Argument not Preserved</u>

Similarly, the argument made by Benskin in part 1.B. of its brief, see, Appellant's Brief pp. 30–32, that the discovery rule applies to the "breach-based" claims and extends the accrual dates was an argument not presented to the trial court and not ruled on by the district court. See, *DuTrac Credit Union v. Hefel*, 893 N.W.2d 282, 293 (Iowa 2017).

In its A&S Petition, Benskin added legal conclusions to Counts I–III of its original petition asserting that West Bank was barred "by equitable estoppel" from asserting that the contract claims accrued before certain dates favorable Benskin. (App. 28 ¶ 18, 19; 29 ¶ 23, 28). The A&S Petition, however, made no mention of the discovery rule as barring the claim set forth in Counts I–III. In fact, Benskin asserted that the discovery rule applied to the claims set forth in

Counts IV and V of the A&S Petition, which were new claims not made in Benskin's original petition. (App. 30 ¶ 35; 31 ¶ 40).

In its motion to dismiss the A&S Petition, West Bank argued that the defense of equitable estoppel is not available in claims based on contracts. (App. 45). West Bank also argued that the discovery rule was inapplicable to fraud claims such as the one in Count IV of Plaintiff's A&S Petition. (App. 47). In its resistance to the motion to dismiss, Benskin then made an effort to apply the defenses of equitable estoppel and the discovery rule to all of its claims despite the fact that Benskin had only pled the defense of equitable estoppel in the contract claim counts (Counts I–III) and asserted the discovery rule defense in the other counts (Counts IV–V). (App. 52-53; 55-56).

In her ruling, the court discussed the defense of equitable estoppel, but only in connection with Counts I–III of the A&S Petition, Benskin's contract claims. (App. 75-76). The court did not discuss or rule on Benskin's assertion in its resistance that equitable estoppel could be applicable to the fraud or slander of title claims in Counts IV and V. (App. 77-80). The court made no mention of equitable estoppel in her ruling on those claims, but did discuss Benskin's discovery rule defense to those claims. (App. 77). The court made no ruling on the question whether the discovery rule could be applied to, or prevented the

statute of limitations from running on the contract claims set forth in Counts I–III of the A&S Petition.

As can be seen from the foregoing, Benskin's assertion that the discovery rule extends the accrual dates of the breach based claims set forth in Counts I–III of the A&S Petition was not preserved. While the defenses were arguably raised with respect to each of the counts of Benskin's A&S Petition, the district court only decided the discovery rule claim with respect to Counts IV and V where the defense was raised in the A&S Petition. The court did not decide whether the discovery rule was applicable to or prevented the statute of limitations from running with respect to the claims set forth in Counts I–III, Benskin's contract claims. Benskin did not request a ruling on the issue following the district court's order dismissing Benskin's A&S Petition. Under the standards applied by this Court, therefore, error was not preserved. See, *DuTrac Credit Union*, at 293; see also, *Meier*, at 537.

B. The Standard of Review

West Bank agrees generally with Benskin's statements as to the standard of review on appeal. An appeals court reviews the district court's order granting the motion to dismiss for the correction of errors at law. See, *Mlynarik v. Bergantzel*, 675 N.W.2d 584, 589 (Iowa 2004). West Bank also agrees that a motion to

dismiss may be granted based on the statute of limitations. See, e.g., *Clark v. Miller*, 503 N.W.2d 422, 424 (Iowa 1993).

However, there are comments in Benskin's six-page dissertation on the standard of review with which West Bank disagrees. First, the district court did not err in granting the bank's dismissal motion in this case. See, Appellant's Brief, at 27. Also, West Bank disagrees with Benskin's claim that the district court failed to faithfully follow the dismissal review standard. Id. In fact, the district court specifically noted the standard of review in her opinion, stating among other things that motions to dismiss are generally disfavored, that a motion should only be granted if the petition on its face showed no right of recovery under any state of facts and that a court will rarely dismiss a petition for failure to state a claim upon which any relief may be granted because the threshold to survive a motion to dismiss is so low. (App. 73). It is apparent from the court's comments on the standard of review in her ruling that she fully understands the standard, and applied it.

1. The District Court Properly Granted the Motion to Dismiss Counts I-III of the A&S Petition Due to the Running of the Statute of Limitations

The district court correctly applied Iowa Code §524.221(2) to Benskin's breach of contract claims. The district court also correctly found that Benskin's claim in Count III of the A&S Petition for breach of implied duties of good faith

and fair dealing should be dismissed on statute of limitations grounds as well. In its brief on appeal, Benskin asserts new arguments that were not presented to the trial court and for which there was error was not preserved. See, Appellee's Brief, pp. 14–18. Even if the court finds that all of Benskin's arguments were preserved, the court properly rejected them.

A. Benskin Misreads the Provisions of Iowa Code §524.221(2) in its "Relevant Entries" Argument Even if the Argument was Preserved.

For the first time on appeal, Benskin argues that Iowa Code §524.221(2) is not applicable to the circumstances alleged in its A&S Petition because of entries by the bank in its records that Benskin asserts were "fraudulent" and therefore were not made in the regular course of business. See, Appellant's Brief, at 28-30. A simple reading of the statute shows that Benskin is incorrect.

1. <u>West Bank's Contracts with Benskin were Made in the Regular</u> Course of Business

The provision to which Benskin refers reads as follows:

"All causes of action,...against a state bank based upon a claim or claims founded on a written contract, or a claim or claims inconsistent with an entry or entries in state bank record, made in the regular course of business, shall be deemed to have accrued, and shall accrue for the purpose of the statute of limitations one year after the breach or failure of performance of a written contract, or one year after the date of such entry or entries...." See, Iowa Code §524.221(2)(2019).

Benskin reads the phrase "made in the regular course of business" to modify both the term "written contract" and the term "entry or entries in a state bank record." See, Appellant's Brief, at 28. Benskin is incorrect. It is clear from a simple reading of the statute that the phase "made in the regular course of business" modifies only the term "entry or entries in a state bank record." It certainly makes sense to distinguish between entries in a bank record that are made in the regular course of business and entries that are not. However, it makes no sense to distinguish between a written contract made by a state bank in the regular course of business and such contracts which are not. Since the legislature did not intend the modifier to apply to the "written contract" part of the section, it is not required for Benskin to have alleged that the written contracts were made in the regular course of business to assert the statute of limitations argument.

Even if it could be said that the statute makes a distinction between written contracts made in the regular course of business and those that are not, it is obvious that the contracts at issue in this case are contracts that were made by West Bank in the regular course of its business. As Benskin's A&S Petition alleges, West Bank is a state bank. (App. 25 ¶ 2). The agreements on which Benskin relies are loan agreements including promissory notes and mortgages. It

is painfully obvious that such documents are contracts made in the regular course of business of a bank. The Legislature does not define the term in the statute and, therefore, the court should apply its ordinary and common meaning. See, *Christiansen v. Iowa Bd. of Educ. Examiners*, 831 N.W.2d 179, 188 (Iowa 2013)("Absent a statutory definition or established meaning in the law, words in the statute are given their ordinary and common meaning by considering the context within which they are used.").

There can be no question that most people would see the making of loan contracts and mortgages as part of the regular business of a bank. Benskin certainly does not allege to the contrary in the A&S Petition. Moreover, Benskin provides the court with no authority suggesting that loan agreement and loan documents or mortgages made between a bank and its customer are somehow written contracts made outside of the regular course of business of a bank. Benskin's argument in this regard is without any basis in fact or law, and should ignored.

2. Fraudulent Entries Do Not Salvage the Claim

To the extent that Benskin relies on appeal on the claim that the bank made fraudulent entries not in the regular course of business and that, somehow, its claim is based on the entries, the claim still fails. The claims made are for breach of contracts between Benskin and West Bank. The contracts were made in the regular course of business, or at least there is no allegation that they were not. The alleged breach of the 2007 contracts—a failure to release the 2007 mortgages—took place on May 30, 2008. The unauthorized advance which Benskin claims breached the 2007 contracts and the 2006 promissory note took place before August 1, 2008. Because the claim is based on breach of the contracts and the contract were made in the regular course of business, the court correctly applied Iowa Code §524.221(2) and not the ten-year period found in Iowa Code §614.1(5). See, Iowa Code §524.221(2) (2019). Benskin's statute of limitations for its breach of contract claims ran, at the latest, in 2015 and the lawsuit in May 2018 was three years too late.

B. Benskin's Discovery Rule Argument was Not Preserved as to its Breach of Contract Claims but Even if it was, the Argument Has No Merit

As argued in part A.2. of the Argument section above, Benskin's discovery rule argument was not preserved as to Benskin's contract claims. See, Appellee's Brief, pp. 16-18. However, even if preserved, the argument has no merit. Benskin asserts that its claim for breach of the 2006 loan agreement "did not accrued" [sic] until on or after July 22, 2016 because Benskin only then learned of improper activity by the bank. Benskin further asserts that its claim relating to

the 2007 line of credit contract did not accrue until on or after June 27, 2011 when the bank informed Benskin that it would not release mortgages encumbering Benskin's Polk County real estate. These assertions are not accurate.

Benskin's A&S Petition alleges that the 2007 promissory note and 2007 mortgages matured on May 30, 2008 and alleges, unequivocally, that West Bank was obligated to release the 2007 mortgages on that date. (App. 26 ¶ 9). Based on this allegation, there can be no question that West Bank was in breach of the 2007 promissory note on May 30, 2008. Benskin's further claims of representations made by the bank with respect to release of the mortgages are irrelevant. According to the A&S Petition, West Bank had a duty to release the 2007 mortgages as of that date and according to the statute, Iowa Code \$524.221(2) the breach is deemed to accrue one year after that date. See, Iowa Code \$524.221(2) (2019).

With respect to the 2006 loan agreement, Benskin's allegations are clear that the breach of that agreement must have occurred no later than August 1, 2008. (App. 26 ¶ 5). Under the statute, it is not relevant that Benskin was not informed of the specific activity that resulted in the breach until later. The breach occurred by no later than August 1, 2008 and therefore the breach is deemed to

have accrued within a year thereafter.

C. The District Court Properly Dismissed Benskin's Breach of Implied Duty of Good Faith and Fair Dealing Claim Due to the Running of the Statute of Limitations.

As to Count III of the A&S Petition, Benskin tries to change the nature of the claim in an effort to avoid the statute of limitations. Benskin asserts that Count III of the A&S Petition states a claim for "Breach of Implied Duties of Good Faith and Fair Dealing." See, Appellant's Brief, at 32. Benskin cites the case of *Legg v. West Bank*, 873 N.W.2d 763 (Iowa 2016) to assert that such claims, based on implied duties only, are treated by Iowa courts as based on an unwritten contract. This is not clearly the nature of Benskin's claims as alleged in the A&S Petition.

The *Legg* case dealt with claims that the bank violated duties of good faith in connection with contracts with its customers relating to the bank's procedure for overdrafts. See, *Legg v. West Bank*, 873 N.W.2d 763, 763 (Iowa 2016). West Bank raised certain statute of limitations defenses in the case and the court discussed what statute of limitations should apply to duties of good faith. See, *Legg v. West Bank*, 873 N.W.2d 763, 774 (Iowa 2016). The Iowa Supreme Court found two possible statutes of limitations to be applicable to duties of good faith. *Id.* The Court found that express duties of good faith were contractual claims to

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